# 國立交通大學

# 電信工程學系碩士班碩士論文

高斯-馬可夫通道之疊代最大事後機率演算法 Iterative MAP algorithm for Gauss-Markov Channel

研究生: 卓雅婷

指導教授: 陳伯寧 教授

中華民國九十四年六月

# 高斯-馬可夫通道之疊代最大事後機率演算法

# Iterative MAP algorithm for Gauss-Markov Channel

研究生: 卓雅婷 指導教授: 陳伯寧 教授 Student: Ya-Ting Cho Advisor: Prof. Po-Ning Chen



A Thesis

Submitted to Institute of Communication Engineering College of Electrical Engineering and Computer Science National Chiao Tung University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science in Communication Engineering June 2005

Hsinchu, Taiwan, Republic of China.

中華民國九十四年六月

# 中文摘要

我們在此篇論文中,嘗試並實驗一個新的想法:亦即在兩個連續的傳送區塊 間,穿插傳送一串長度不短於通道記憶長度 (channel memory) 或記憶延展 (channel spread)的隨機位元 (random bits),則通道原本的長程記憶特性可被削弱 為近似區塊獨立特性 (blockwise independent)。我們同時推想,或許可以使用經 由交錯器 (interleaver) 打亂序列順序的訊息序列 (information bit sequence) 的同 位檢查位元 (parity check bits), 來作為上述的 "隨機位元",以使接收端可經由 解交錯器 (de-interleaver) 得到額外的同位檢查訊息,來進一步提升系統效能。 而一個最直接符合以上想法的範例架構,就是平行串接旋積碼 (parallel concatenated convolutional code)。為了驗證我們的想法,我們採用隨時間改變衰 減的一階高斯-馬可夫通道為實驗平台。

首先,我們推導出疊代最大事後機率演算法 (iterative MAP algorithm) 在直接假設接收向量「因為以兩位元為單位,穿插一位元的交錯訊息序列的同位檢查碼」而具有 2 位元區塊為單位的區塊統計獨立的對應量度公式。接著我們進行此直接假設下所導出的量度,在原本一階高斯-馬可夫通道的效能模擬。模擬的結果顯示,在區塊獨立假設下所推導出來的疊代最大事後機率解碼器 (iterative MAP decoder) 量度的效能,不僅非常接近有完美通道狀態資訊 (channel state information) 的解碼機制效能,且在某些情況下,與單農傳輸極限 (Shannon limits) 最多只有 0.9 dB 的差距。

#### ABSTRACT

In this paper, we experiment on the idea that the *channel-with-memory* nature can be nearly weakened to *blockwise independence* by the insertive transmission of informationless "random bits" (of length no less than the channel memory or channel spread) between two consecutive blocks. We found that these "random bits" can indeed be another parity check bits generated due to interleaved information bits such that additional coding information can be provided to improve the system performance. An examplified structure that follows this idea is the parallel concatenated convolutional code (PCCC). We thus derived its respective iterative MAP algorithm for time-varying channel with *first-order* Gauss-Markov fading, and tested whether or not the receiver can treat the received vector as blockwise independence with 2-bit blocks periodically separated by *single* parity-check bit from the second component recursive systematic convolutional (RSC) code encoder. Simulation results show that the iterative MAP decoder that is derived based on blockwise independence assumption not only performs close to the CSI(channel state information)-aided decoding scheme but is at most 0.9 dB away from the Shannon limit.



# ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I owe my gratitude to all the people who have made this thesis possible and because of whom my graduate experience has been one that I will cherish forever.



## TABLE OF CONTENTS

Lis	st of Figures	iv
1	Introduction1.1Background1.2Outline of Thesis	1 1 3
2	Gauss-Markov System Model	4
	2.1 System model for Gauss-Markov fading	4
3	Iterative MAP Algorithm for Gauss-Markov Channel	9
	3.1 Assumptions made for the metric derivation	9
	3.2 Metric functions of the first component MAP decoder	10
	3.3 Metric functions of the second component MAP decoder	15
	3.4 Iterative MAP decoder	16
4	Simulation Results for Iterative MAP Decoder	23
	4.1 System setting and channel parameters	23
	4.2 Simulation Results	25
5	Conclusion and Future Work	32
А	Supplemental Derivations	33
	A.1 A lower bound of the Shannon limit	33
	A.2 Detail derivation for Eq. (2.3)	35
	A.3 Berrou-Glavieux interleaver	40
Bil	bliography	41

## LIST OF FIGURES

2.1	System model for coded transmission over Gauss-Markov chan- nel	4
2.2	The PCCC encoder with $(37, 21)$ component RSC encoders	4
3.1	Trellis diagram for a $(7,5)$ RSC code with memory order 2. The numbers inside circles indicate the states of the nodes at the specific level. The information bit and the two code bits along with a trellis edge are marked above the edge	21
3.2	Block diagram of the iterative MAP decoder. A tilde over the vector represents its interleaved version.	22
4.1	Performance curve of the proposed iterative MAP decoder. Parameters of Gauss-Markov channel are $\alpha = 0.995$ , $\sigma_v^2 = 0.001$ and $h_0 = 1$	24
4.2	Performance comparison between the iterative MAP decoder with 18 iterations and a lower bound (cf. Appendix I) of the Shannon limit. Parameters of Gauss-Markov channel are $\alpha =$ 0.995, $\sigma_v^2 = 0.001$ and $h_0 = 1$ .	26
4.3	Performance comparison between the iterative MAP decoding and a lower bound of the Shannon limit. Parameters of Gauss- Markov channel are $\alpha = 0.995$ , $\sigma_v^2 = 0.001$ and $h_0 = 0.5$	28
4.4	Performance comparison between the iterative MAP decoding and a lower bound of the Shannon limit. Parameters of Gauss- Markov channel are $\alpha = 0.995$ , $\sigma_v^2 = 0.01$ and $h_0 = 1. \ldots$ .	29



#### Chapter 1

#### Introduction

#### 1.1 Background

In recent years, the growing demand in wireless communications inspires a quick advance in wireless transmission technologies. These technologies blossom in both *high-mobility low-bit-rate* and *low-mobility high-bit-rate* transmissions. Apparently, the next challenge in wireless communications will be how to reach *high transmission rate* under *high mobility*.

The main technology obstacle for high-bit-rate transmission under high mobility is the seemingly highly time-varying channel characteristic due to movement; such a characteristic enforces the dependence between consecutive symbols, and further effects the difficulty in compensating the intersymbol interference. In principle, the temporal channel memory can be eliminated by an intersymbol space longer than the channel memory spread. An example is the IEEE 802.11a standard, in which  $0.8-\mu s$  "intersymbol space" is added between two consecutive 3.2- $\mu$ s OFDM symbols to combat any delay spread less than 800 nano seconds [5]. In order to take advantage of the circular convolution technique, the 0.8- $\mu$ s "intersymbol space" is designed to be the leading 0.8- $\mu$  portion of the 3.2- $\mu$ s OFDM symbol, which is often named the cyclic prefix.

In this work, we experiment on a different view in the neutralization of channel memory, where the "intersymbol space" may be of use to enhance the system performance. Specifically, we speculate that the received vector can be broken into *nearly time-independent* blocks by the insertive transmission of random bits of length no less than the channel memory. In order to make the best use of these interblock random bits, they can be designed to be the parity-check bits of the interleaved information bits, in which *interleaving* can provide the required randomness, and parity-check bits can provide additional coding information for further improvement of system performance. We then begin the experiment from the simplest case along this idea, i.e., the parallel concatenated convolutional code (PCCC) and its respective iterative MAP decoder over a time-varying channel with first-order Gauss-Markov fading [3,4]. Simulation results hint that the iterative MAP decoder that is derived based on *blockwise independence* assumption not only performs close to the CSI(channel state information)-aided decoding scheme but is at most 0.9 dB away from the Shannon limit, thereby confirms the feasibility of our proposal. Details will be introduced in subsequent sections.

#### 1.2 Outline of Thesis

This thesis is organized in the following fashion. In Chapter 2, we introduce the system model concerned in the paper. The metric functions used for the iterative MAP algorithm based on blockwise independence assumption are derived in Chapter 3. Chapter 4 devotes to the presentation and discussion of the simulation results. Final conclusion is given in Chapter 5.



# Chapter 2

# Gauss-Markov System Model

# 2.1 System model for Gauss-Markov fading



Figure 2.2: The PCCC encoder with (37, 21) component RSC encoders.

Referring to Fig. 2.1, the information bit sequence  $\boldsymbol{u} = [u_1, u_2, \cdots, u_K]$ is comprised of K independent and identically distributed (i.i.d.) bits with equal probable marginal, where each  $u_j$  is either 0 or 1. This information bit sequence is fed into a parallel concatenated convolutional code (PCCC) encoder that consists of two (37, 21) recursive systematic convolutional (RSC) code encoders parallelly concatenated through an interleaver to generate the coded bit sequence

$$\boldsymbol{c} = [c_1, c_2, \cdots, c_N] = [u_1, p_1, \bar{p}_1, u_2, p_2, \bar{p}_2, \cdots, u_K, p_K, \bar{p}_K],$$

where  $\boldsymbol{p} = [p_1, p_2, \cdots, p_K]$  and  $\bar{\boldsymbol{p}} = [\bar{p}_1, \bar{p}_2, \cdots, \bar{p}_K]$  are respectively the parity bit sequences generated by the first and the second component RSC encoders (cf. Fig. 2.2). Antipodal modulation, i.e.,  $x_j = 2c_j - 1$ , is then applied to the coded bit sequence before it is sent to the Gauss-Markov modelled time-varying channel. Finally, the received sequence  $\boldsymbol{r} = [r_1, r_2, \cdots, r_N]$  is delivered to an iterative MAP decoder, and an estimate of the transmitted information bit sequence  $\hat{\boldsymbol{u}} = [\hat{u}_1, \hat{u}_2, \cdots, \hat{u}_K]$  is outputted after sufficient number of iterations.

The channel model considered in this work is a complex-valued timevarying channel with Gauss-Markov fading; therefore, the received signal at time j is given by:

$$r_j = h_j x_j + z_j, \tag{2.1}$$

where  $[z_1, z_2, \dots, z_N]$  is an i.i.d. complex-valued Gaussian-distributed noise sequence with zero marginal mean and marginal variance  $E[z_j z_j^*] = \sigma^2$ , and the channel coefficient  $h_j$  is Gauss-Markov distributed, satisfying that  $h_j =$  $\alpha h_{j-1} + v_j$  for complex-valued scaling constant  $\alpha$ , complex-valued initial value  $h_0$  and i.i.d. complex-valued Gaussian-distributed process  $[v_1, v_2, \dots, v_N]$ with  $E[v_j] = 0$  and  $E[v_j v_j^*] = \sigma_v^2$ . The complex-valued constant  $\alpha$  is a first-order Markov factor usually chosen according to  $|\alpha| = e^{-\omega T}$ , where Tis the system sampling period and  $\omega/\pi$  is the Doppler spread [9]. Notably, although  $x_j$  in our system is discrete real-valued (in fact, is either +1 or -1), the resultant  $r_j$  is in general complex-valued due to its multiplication with complex  $h_j$  and addition with complex  $z_j$ . Such a complex-valued system setting can mirror the practical effect of possible unsynchronization between the transmitter and the receiver, in addition to the phase delay due to channel fading.

Denote by  $x_i^j$  the portion  $[x_i, \dots, x_j]$  of sequence  $\boldsymbol{x}$ . Similar notations are used for  $r_i^j$  and  $h_i^j$ . Since the channel coefficient  $h_i^j$  follows the GaussMarkov distribution,

$$f\left\{h_{i}^{j}\right\} = f\left\{h_{i}\right\} \prod_{k=i+1}^{j} f\left\{h_{k}|h_{k-1}\right\} = \frac{1}{\pi\bar{\sigma}_{i}^{2}} e^{-\frac{|h_{i}-\bar{h}_{i}|^{2}}{\bar{\sigma}_{i}^{2}}} \prod_{k=i+1}^{j} \frac{1}{\pi\sigma_{v}^{2}} e^{-\frac{|h_{k}-\alpha h_{k-1}|^{2}}{\sigma_{v}^{2}}},$$

where  $\bar{h}_i = \alpha^i h_0$  and  $\bar{\sigma}_i^2 = \sigma_v^2 (1 - |\alpha|^{2i})/(1 - |\alpha|^2)$  are the mean and variance of Gaussian variable  $h_i$ , respectively. According to (2.1),

$$f\left\{r_{i}^{j}\left|h_{i}^{j}, x_{i}^{j}\right.\right\} = \prod_{k=i}^{j} f\left\{r_{k}\left|h_{k}, x_{k}\right.\right\} = \prod_{k=i}^{j} \frac{1}{\pi\sigma^{2}} e^{-\frac{\left|r_{k}-x_{k}h_{k}\right|^{2}}{\sigma^{2}}}.$$

Therefore, it can be derived [3] that:

$$f\left\{r_{i}^{j} | x_{i}^{j}\right\} = \int_{\mathcal{C}^{j-i+1}} f\left\{r_{i}^{j}, h_{i}^{j} | x_{i}^{j}\right\} dh_{i}^{j} = \int_{\mathcal{C}^{j-i+1}} f\left\{r_{i}^{j} | x_{i}^{j}, h_{i}^{j}\right\} f\left\{h_{i}^{j} | x_{i}^{j}\right\} dh_{i}^{j} = \int_{\mathcal{C}^{j-i+1}} f\left\{r_{i}^{j} | x_{i}^{j}, h_{i}^{j}\right\} f\left\{h_{i}^{j}\right\} dh_{i}^{j} \qquad (2.2)$$

$$= \int_{\mathcal{C}^{j-i+1}} \left(\frac{1}{(\pi\sigma^{2})^{j-i+1}} \prod_{k=i}^{j} e^{-\frac{|r_{k}-x_{k}h_{k}|^{2}}{\sigma^{2}}}\right) \left(\frac{1}{(\pi\sigma^{2})^{j-i+1}\sigma_{v}^{2(j-i)}\bar{\sigma}_{i}^{2}} e^{-\frac{|h_{i}-\bar{h}_{i}|^{2}}{\sigma^{2}}} \prod_{k=i+1}^{j} e^{-\frac{|h_{k}-\alpha h_{k-1}|^{2}}{\sigma^{2}}}\right) dh_{i}^{j}$$

$$= \frac{e^{-\frac{|\bar{h}_{i}|^{2}}{\sigma^{2}}}}{\pi^{j-i+1}\sigma^{2(j-i+1)}\sigma_{v}^{2(j-i)}\bar{\sigma}_{i}^{2}} \left(\prod_{k=i}^{j} e^{-|r_{k}|^{2}/\sigma^{2}} G_{k} e^{G_{k}|q_{k}|^{2}}\right), \qquad (2.3)$$

where  $\mathcal{C} \triangleq \Re \times \Re$  is the entire domain for complex numbers, and (2.2) holds

because  $h_i^j$  is independent of  $x_i^j$ , and

$$G_k^{-1} \triangleq \begin{cases} \frac{1}{\sigma^2} + \frac{|\alpha|^2}{\sigma_v^2} + \frac{1}{\bar{\sigma}_k^2}, & \text{if } k = i; \\ \frac{1}{\sigma^2} + \frac{|\alpha|^2}{\sigma_v^2} + \frac{1}{\sigma_v^2} - \frac{|\alpha|^2 G_{k-1}}{\sigma_v^4}, & \text{if } i < k < j; \\ \frac{1}{\sigma^2} + \frac{1}{\sigma_v^2} - \frac{|\alpha|^2 G_{k-1}}{\sigma_v^4}, & \text{if } k = j, \end{cases}$$

and

$$q_k \triangleq \begin{cases} \frac{r_k x_k}{\sigma^2} + \frac{\bar{h}_k}{\bar{\sigma}_k^2}, & \text{if } k = i; \\ \frac{r_k x_k}{\sigma^2} + \frac{\alpha G_{k-1} q_{k-1}}{\sigma_v^2}, & \text{if } i < k \le j, \end{cases}$$

By following similar derivation, we can generalize the MAP algorithm for

Gauss-Markov fading channels in the next chapter.



#### Chapter 3

#### Iterative MAP Algorithm for Gauss-Markov Channel

#### 3.1 Assumptions made for the metric derivation

In this chapter, we derive the metric functions, namely,  $\alpha(\cdot)$ ,  $\beta(\cdot)$  and  $\gamma(\cdot)$ , used by the iterative MAP decoder.

The metrics used in the first component decoder consider the effect of Gauss-Markov channel fading based on the assumption that the received scalers  $r_{3i+1}^{3i+2}$  are *independent* of the previous received scalers  $r_{3(i-1)+1}^{3(i-1)+2}$ . It can be shown from simulations that a small bit-error-rate in information bit sequence  $\boldsymbol{u}$  could induce up to half parity-check-bit errors because of the error-propagation nature of the component RSC encoder. This observation, together with the effect of interleaver, results in that the parity check bits  $[x_3, x_6, x_9, \cdots]$  due to the *interleaved*  $\boldsymbol{u}$  is almost *bit-wisely independent* of the *uninterleaved*  $\boldsymbol{u} = [x_1, x_4, x_7, \cdots]$ , as well as the parity check bit sequence  $[x_2, x_5, x_8, \cdots]$  generated according to the *uninterleaved*  $\boldsymbol{u}$ . Therefore, the first-order channel memory within  $r_{3(i-1)+1}$ ,  $r_{3(i-1)+2}$ ,  $r_{3i}$ ,  $r_{3i+1}$ ,  $r_{3i+2}$ is somewhat weakened by the insersion of  $r_{3i}$  (due to the transmission of independent  $x_{3i}$ ). Our assumption of blockwisely independence between  $r_{3i+1}^{3i+2}$ and  $r_{3(i-1)+1}^{3(i-1)+2}$  is thus justified. Simulations confirm that the metrics we obtained based on blockwise independence assumption is only 1-dB away from the Shannon limit. Therefore, it seems reasonable to claim based on our experiments that the first-order channel memory can be nearly compensated by the insertion of one random-bit transmission.

As interleaving operation is applied to the information bit sequence  $\boldsymbol{u}$  before it is fed into the second component RSC encoder, the channel memory due to Gauss-Markov fading can be treated as *being neutralized* for the second component decoder. For this reason, the second component decoder assumes its input is interfered with time-independent Gaussian fading channel with  $\{h_i\}_{i=1}^N$  being independent Gaussian distributed with the same marginal mean and variance as the Gauss-Markov fading.

#### 3.2 Metric functions of the first component MAP decoder

Denote by  $t_s^i$  the node at level *i* with state *s* over a convolutional code trellis (cf. Fig. 3.1), and let  $\mathcal{B}_i^{(u)}$  be the set of trellis edges such that

the edge transition from node  $t_s^{i-1}$  to node  $t_{\bar{s}}^i$  is due to information bit  $u_i = u$ . For example, there are four nodes at level 4 in Fig. 3.1, which can be respectively represented by  $t_0^4$ ,  $t_1^4$ ,  $t_2^4$  and  $t_3^4$ . In addition,  $\mathcal{B}_4^{(0)} = \{(t_0^3, t_0^4), (t_1^3, t_2^4), (t_2^3, t_3^4), (t_3^3, t_1^4)\}.$ 

As in [1] and [10], the *a posteriori probability* (APP) of  $u_i$  upon the reception of  $\boldsymbol{d} = [d_1, d_2, \cdots, d_{2K}] = [r_1, r_2, r_4, r_5, \cdots, r_{3K-2}, r_{3K-1}]$  can be represented as:

$$\Pr\{u_{i} = u | \boldsymbol{d}\} = \sum_{\substack{(t_{s}^{i-1}, t_{\bar{s}}^{i}) \in \mathcal{B}_{i}^{(u)}}} \Pr\{T^{i-1} = t_{s}^{i-1}, T^{i} = t_{\bar{s}}^{i} | \boldsymbol{d}\}$$
$$= \sum_{\substack{(t_{s}^{i-1}, t_{\bar{s}}^{i}) \in \mathcal{B}_{i}^{(u)}}} \frac{f\{T^{i-1} = t_{s}^{i-1}, T^{i} = t_{\bar{s}}^{i}, \boldsymbol{d}\}}{f\{\boldsymbol{d}\}}, \quad (3.1)$$

where  $T^i$  denotes the event of possible visited node at level *i*. For convenience, event  $[T^i = t_s^i]$  will be abbreviated as  $T_s^i$ . Since  $T_s^{i-1}$  and  $T_{\bar{s}}^i$  considered in  $f\{T_s^{i-1}, T_{\bar{s}}^i, d\}$  in (3.1) are required to be in  $\mathcal{B}_i^{(u)}$ , there must exist a trellis edge inbetween; therefore, it is reasonable to assume that  $(T_s^{i-1}, T_{\bar{s}}^i)$ -pair in the follow-up derivation can uniquely determine  $x_{3(i-1)+1}^{3(i-1)+2}$ . We then derive:

$$f \left\{ T_{s}^{i-1}, T_{\bar{s}}^{i}, \boldsymbol{d} \right\} = f \left\{ d_{2i+1}^{2K} \left| T_{s}^{i-1}, T_{\bar{s}}^{i}, d_{1}^{2i} \right\} f \left\{ T_{s}^{i-1}, T_{\bar{s}}^{i}, d_{1}^{2i} \right\}$$

$$= f \left\{ d_{2i+1}^{2K} \left| T_{\bar{s}}^{i} \right\} f \left\{ T_{s}^{i-1}, d_{1}^{2(i-1)} \right\} f \left\{ T_{\bar{s}}^{i}, d_{2(i-1)+1}^{2i} \left| T_{s}^{i-1}, d_{1}^{2(i-1)} \right. \right\}$$

$$= f \left\{ d_{2i+1}^{2K} \left| T_{\bar{s}}^{i} \right\} f \left\{ T_{s}^{i-1}, d_{1}^{2(i-1)} \right\} f \left\{ T_{\bar{s}}^{i}, d_{2(i-1)+1}^{2i} \left| T_{s}^{i-1} \right. \right\}$$

$$= \beta(T_{\bar{s}}^{i}) \alpha(T_{s}^{i-1}) \gamma(T_{s}^{i-1}, T_{\bar{s}}^{i}), \qquad (3.2)$$

where

$$\alpha(T_s^{i-1}) \triangleq f\left\{T_s^{i-1}, d_1^{2(i-1)}\right\}, \quad \beta(T_{\bar{s}}^i) \triangleq f\left\{d_{2i+1}^{2K} \left| T_{\bar{s}}^i\right\}\right\},$$

and

$$\gamma(T_s^{i-1}, T_{\bar{s}}^i) \triangleq f\left\{T_{\bar{s}}^i, d_{2(i-1)+1}^{2i} \middle| T_s^{i-1}\right\}.$$

By noting that the number of states of the adopted RSC code is equal to 16, functions  $\alpha(\cdot)$  and  $\beta(\cdot)$  can be changed into recursive forms through:

$$\begin{split} &\alpha(T_s^i) &= f\left\{T_s^i, d_1^{2i}\right\} \\ &= \sum_{\bar{s}=0}^{15} f\left\{T_{\bar{s}}^{i-1}, T_s^i, d_1^{2i}\right\} \\ &= \sum_{\bar{s}=0}^{15} f\left\{T_{\bar{s}}^{i-1}, d_1^{2(i+1)}\right\} f\left\{T_s^i, d_{2(i-1)+1}^{2i} \left| T_{\bar{s}}^{i-1}, d_1^{2(i-1)}\right.\right\} \\ &= \sum_{\bar{s}=0}^{15} f\left\{T_{\bar{s}}^{i-1}, d_1^{2(i-1)}\right\} f\left\{T_s^i, d_{2(i-1)+1}^{2i} \left| T_{\bar{s}}^{i-1}\right.\right\} \\ &= \sum_{\bar{s}=0}^{15} \alpha(T_{\bar{s}}^{i-1}) \gamma(T_{\bar{s}}^{i-1}, T_s^i), \end{split}$$

and

$$\begin{split} \beta(T_{\bar{s}}^{i}) &= f\left\{ d_{2i+1}^{2K} \middle| T_{\bar{s}}^{i} \right\} \\ &= \sum_{s=0}^{15} f\left\{ T_{s}^{i+1}, d_{2i+1}^{2K} \middle| T_{\bar{s}}^{i} \right\} \\ &= \sum_{s=0}^{15} f\left\{ d_{2(i+1)+1}^{2K} \middle| T_{\bar{s}}^{i}, T_{s}^{i+1}, d_{2i+1}^{2(i+1)} \right\} f\left\{ T_{s}^{i+1}, d_{2i+1}^{2(i+1)} \middle| T_{\bar{s}}^{i} \right\} \\ &= \sum_{s=0}^{15} f\left\{ d_{2(i+1)+1}^{2K} \middle| T_{s}^{i+1} \right\} f\left\{ T_{s}^{i+1} \middle| T_{\bar{s}}^{i} \right\} \\ &= \sum_{s=0}^{15} \beta(T_{s}^{i+1}) \gamma(T_{\bar{s}}^{i}, T_{s}^{i+1}). \end{split}$$

We then notice that:

otice that:  

$$\gamma(T_s^{i-1}, T_{\bar{s}}^i) = f\left\{T_{\bar{s}}^i, d_{2(i-1)+1}^{2i} \mid T_s^{i-1}\right\}$$

$$= f\left\{d_{2(i-1)+1}^{2i} \mid T_s^{i-1}, T_{\bar{s}}^i\right\} \Pr\left\{T_{\bar{s}}^i \mid T_s^{i-1}\right\}$$

$$= f\left\{r_{3(i-1)+2}^{3(i-1)+2} \mid x_{3(i-1)+1}^{3(i-1)+2}\right\} \Pr\left\{T_{\bar{s}}^i \mid T_s^{i-1}\right\}, \quad (3.3)$$

where  $x_{3(i-1)+1}^{3(i-1)+2}$  is the unique codeword portion corresponding to the trellis edge with end nodes  $T_s^{i-1}$  and  $T_{\bar{s}}^i$ . By following similar procedure as in (2.3) (or in [3]), we obtain:

$$f\left\{r_{3(i-1)+1}^{3(i-1)+2} \left| x_{3(i-1)+1}^{3(i-1)+2} \right\} = \frac{e^{-\frac{|\bar{h}_{3(i-1)+1}|^2}{\bar{\sigma}_{3(i-1)+1}^2}}}{\pi^2 \sigma^4 \sigma_v^2 \bar{\sigma}_{3(i-1)+1}^2} \left(\prod_{k=3(i-1)+1}^{3(i-1)+2} e^{-|r_k|^2/\sigma^2} G_k e^{G_k |q_k|^2}\right),$$

where

$$G_k^{-1} \triangleq \begin{cases} \frac{1}{\sigma^2} + \frac{|\alpha|^2}{\sigma_v^2} + \frac{1}{\bar{\sigma}_k}, & \text{if } k = 3(i-1) + 1; \\ \frac{1}{\sigma^2} + \frac{1}{\sigma_v^2} - \frac{|\alpha|^2 G_{k-1}}{\sigma_v^4}, & \text{if } k = 3(i-1) + 2, \end{cases}$$

and

$$q_{k} \triangleq \begin{cases} \frac{r_{k}x_{k}}{\sigma^{2}} + \frac{\bar{h}_{k}}{\bar{\sigma}_{k}^{2}}, & \text{if } k = 3(i-1) + 1; \\ \frac{r_{k}x_{k}}{\sigma^{2}} + \frac{\alpha G_{k-1}q_{k-1}}{\sigma_{v}^{2}}, & \text{if } k = 3(i-1) + 2. \end{cases}$$

It remains to consider the last term  $\Pr\{T_{\bar{s}}^i | T_s^{i-1}\}$  in function  $\gamma(\cdot)$ . Because we always consider those  $(T_s^{i-1}, T_{\bar{s}}^i)$ -pairs that can define trellis edges,

$$\Pr\left\{T_{\bar{s}}^{i} \middle| T_{s}^{i-1}\right\} = \begin{cases} \Pr\{u_{i} = 0\}, & \text{if } (T_{s}^{i-1}, T_{\bar{s}}^{i}) \in \mathcal{B}_{i}^{(0)}; \\ \Pr\{u_{i} = 1\}, & \text{if } (T_{s}^{i-1}, T_{\bar{s}}^{i}) \in \mathcal{B}_{i}^{(1)}. \end{cases}$$

Finally, by eliminating product terms that are irrelevant to the choice of  $(T_s^{i-1}, T_{\bar{s}}^i)$  (or equivalently,  $x_{3(i-1)+1}^{3(i-1)+2}$ ), we can reduce function  $\gamma(\cdot)$  to its equivalent scale without infecting the log-likelihood ratio  $\Lambda(i)$  as:

$$\gamma(T_{s}^{i-1}, T_{\bar{s}}^{i}) = \begin{cases} \Pr\left\{u_{i}=0\right\} \prod_{\substack{k=1\\2}}^{2} e^{G_{3(i-1)+k} \left|q_{3(i-1)+k}\right|^{2}}, & \text{if } (T_{s}^{i-1}, T_{\bar{s}}^{i}) \in \mathcal{B}_{i}^{(0)}; \\ \Pr\left\{u_{i}=1\right\} \prod_{k=1}^{2} e^{G_{3(i-1)+k} \left|q_{3(i-1)+k}\right|^{2}}, & \text{if } (T_{s}^{i-1}, T_{\bar{s}}^{i}) \in \mathcal{B}_{i}^{(1)}; \\ 0, & \text{if } (T_{s}^{i-1}, T_{\bar{s}}^{i}) \notin \mathcal{B}_{i}^{(0)} \cup \mathcal{B}_{i}^{(1)} \end{cases} \end{cases}$$

$$(3.4)$$

where the calculation of  $\{|q_{3(i-1)+k}|^2\}_{k=1}^2$  implicitly requires the knowledge of  $x_{3(i-1)+1}^{3(i-1)+2}$ , which can be determined by  $(T_s^{i-1}, T_{\bar{s}}^i)$ .

#### 3.3 Metric functions of the second component MAP decoder

By assuming that the channel memory has been neutralized by the interleaver, function  $\gamma(\cdot)$  for the second component decoder is simplified to:

$$\gamma(T_s^{i-1}, T_{\bar{s}}^i) = f\left\{ r_{3(\ell(i)-1)+1} \left| x_{3(\ell(i)-1)+1} \right\} f\left\{ r_{3i} \left| x_{3i} \right\} \Pr\left\{ T_{\bar{s}}^i \left| T_s^{i-1} \right. \right\} \right\}$$

where  $\ell(\cdot)$  denotes the index of interleaved  $\boldsymbol{u}$  (namely,  $[u_{\ell(1)}, u_{\ell(2)}, \cdots, u_{\ell(K)}]$ is the information input of the second component encoder),

$$f\left\{r_{k} \left|x_{k}\right.\right\} = \frac{1}{\pi(\sigma^{2} + \bar{\sigma}_{k}^{2})} e^{-\frac{|r_{k} - x_{k}\bar{h}_{k}|^{2}}{\sigma^{2} + \bar{\sigma}_{k}^{2}}} = \frac{e^{-|\bar{h}_{k}|^{2}/\bar{\sigma}_{k}^{2}}}{\pi\sigma^{2}\bar{\sigma}_{k}^{2}} e^{-|r_{k}|^{2}/\sigma^{2}} \bar{G}_{k} e^{\bar{G}_{k}|\bar{q}_{k}|^{2}},$$
$$\bar{G}_{k}^{-1} \triangleq \frac{1}{\sigma^{2}} + \frac{1}{\bar{\sigma}_{k}^{2}} \text{ and } \bar{q}_{k} \triangleq \frac{r_{k}x_{k}}{\sigma^{2}} + \frac{\bar{h}_{k}}{\bar{\sigma}_{k}^{2}}.$$

and

Again, by eliminating product terms that are irrelevant to the choice of  $(T_s^{i-1}, T_{\bar{s}}^i)$ , we can reduce function  $\gamma(\cdot)$  for the second component decoder to its equivalent scale without infecting the log-likelihood ratio  $\Lambda(i)$  as:

$$\gamma(T_{s}^{i-1}, T_{\bar{s}}^{i}) = \begin{cases} \Pr\left\{u_{\ell(i)} = 0\right\} e^{\bar{G}_{3(\ell(i)-1)+1}|\bar{q}_{3(\ell(i)-1)+1}|^{2}} e^{\bar{G}_{3i}|\bar{q}_{3i}|^{2}}, & \text{if } (T_{s}^{i-1}, T_{\bar{s}}^{i}) \in \mathcal{B}_{i}^{(0)}; \\ \Pr\left\{u_{\ell(i)} = 1\right\} e^{\bar{G}_{3(\ell(i)-1)+1}|\bar{q}_{3(\ell(i)-1)+1}|^{2}} e^{\bar{G}_{3i}|\bar{q}_{3i}|^{2}}, & \text{if } (T_{s}^{i-1}, T_{\bar{s}}^{i}) \in \mathcal{B}_{i}^{(1)}; \\ 0, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

#### 3.4 Iterative MAP decoder

Figure 3.2 illustrates the structure of the iterative MAP decoder. Derive for the first component MAP decoder that:

$$\Lambda_1^{(n)}(i) = \Lambda_{2e}^{(n-1)}(i) + \frac{2G_{3(i-1)+1}}{\sigma^2 \bar{\sigma}_{3(i-1)+1}^2} \left( r_{3(i-1)+1} \bar{h}_{3(i-1)+1}^* + r_{3(i-1)+1}^* \bar{h}_{3(i-1)+1} \right) + \Lambda_{1e}^{(n)}(i),$$

where  $\Lambda_{2e}^{(n-1)}(i) = \log[\Pr\{u_i = 1\} / \Pr\{u_i = 0\}]$  is the *a priori probability* estimate from the previous stage (n-1), and

$$\Lambda_{1e}^{(n)}(i) \triangleq \log \frac{\sum\limits_{\substack{(T_s^{i-1}, T_{\bar{s}}^i) \in \mathcal{B}_i^{(1)}}} \alpha(T_s^{i-1}) \beta(T_{\bar{s}}^i) e^{G_{3(i-1)+2} |q_{3(i-1)+2}|^2}}{\sum\limits_{\substack{(T_s^{i-1}, T_{\bar{s}}^i) \in \mathcal{B}_i^{(0)}}} \alpha(T_s^{i-1}) \beta(T_{\bar{s}}^i) e^{G_{3(i-1)+2} |q_{3(i-1)+2}|^2}}$$

is the *extrinsic information* that is used to improve the *a priori probability estimate* for the next decoding stage n. Similarly, we derive for the second component MAP decoder that:

$$\Lambda_{2}^{(n)}(\ell(i)) = \Lambda_{1e}^{(n)}(\ell(i)) + \frac{2G_{3(\ell(i)-1)+1}}{\sigma^{2}\bar{\sigma}_{3(\ell(i)-1)+1}^{2}} \left(r_{3(\ell(i)-1)+1}\bar{h}_{3(\ell(i)-1)+1}^{*} + r_{3(\ell(i)-1)+1}^{*}\bar{h}_{3(\ell(i)-1)+1}\right) \\ + \Lambda_{2e}^{(n)}(\ell(i)),$$

where

$$\Lambda_{2e}^{(n)}(\ell(i)) \triangleq \log \frac{\sum\limits_{(T_s^{i-1}, T_{\bar{s}}^i) \in \mathcal{B}_i^{(1)}} \alpha(T_s^{i-1}) \beta(T_{\bar{s}}^i) e^{\bar{G}_{3i} |\bar{q}_{3i}|^2}}{\sum\limits_{(T_s^{i-1}, T_{\bar{s}}^i) \in \mathcal{B}_i^{(0)}} \alpha(T_s^{i-1}) \beta(T_{\bar{s}}^i) e^{\bar{G}_{3i} |\bar{q}_{3i}|^2}}$$

is the extrinsic information for the second component MAP decoder. The block diagram in Fig. 3.2 then indicates that only the extrinsic information needs to be exchanged between the two component MAP decoders.

We end this chapter by providing the iterative MAP algorithm below for completeness.

Step 1: Set  $\Lambda_{2e}^{(0)} = 0$ , and set n = 1. Step 2: Calculate  $\Lambda_1^{(n)}$  and  $\Lambda_{1e}^{(n)}$ 

- 1. Initialization:
  - For i = 1, ..., K,  $\Pr\{u_i = 0\} = 1/(1 + e^{\Lambda_{2e}^{(n-1)}(i)})$  and  $\Pr\{u_i = 1\} = 1 \Pr\{u_i = 0\}$ . • For i = 1, ..., K, s = 0, ..., 15 and  $\bar{s} = 0, ..., 15$ , compute  $\gamma(T_s^{i-1}, T_{\bar{s}}^i)$  as:  $\gamma(T_s^{i-1}, T_{\bar{s}}^i)$  as:  $\gamma(T_s^{i-1}, T_{\bar{s}}^i) = \begin{cases} \Pr\{u_i = 0\} \prod_{k=1}^2 e^{G_{3(i-1)+k}|q_{3(i-1)+k}|^2}, \text{if } (T_s^{i-1}, T_{\bar{s}}^i) \in \mathcal{B}_i^{(0)}; \\ \Pr\{u_i = 1\} \prod_{k=1}^2 e^{G_{3(i-1)+k}|q_{3(i-1)+k}|^2}, \text{if } (T_s^{i-1}, T_{\bar{s}}^i) \in \mathcal{B}_i^{(1)}; \\ 0, \qquad \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$
- 2. Forward recursion:
  - Set  $\alpha(T_0^0) = 1$  and for  $s = 1, ..., 15, \alpha(T_s^0) = 0$ .

- For i = 1, ..., K and s = 0, ..., 15, perform  $\alpha(T_s^i) = \sum_{\bar{s}=0}^{15} \alpha(T_{\bar{s}}^{i-1}) \gamma(T_{\bar{s}}^{i-1}, T_s^i)$ .
- 3. Backward recursion:
  - Set  $\beta(T_s^{K+1}) = \alpha(T_s^K)$  for s = 0, ..., 15.
  - For  $i = K, \dots, 1$  and  $\bar{s} = 0, \dots, 15$ , perform  $\beta(T_{\bar{s}}^i) = \sum_{s=0}^{15} \beta(T_s^{i+1}) \gamma(T_{\bar{s}}^i, T_s^{i+1})$ .
- 4. Soft output:
  - For  $i = 1, \ldots, K$ , update

$$\Lambda_{1}^{(n)}(i) = \log \frac{\sum_{\substack{(T_{s}^{i-1}, T_{\bar{s}}^{i}) \in \mathcal{B}_{i}^{(1)}}}{\alpha(T_{s}^{i-1})\beta(T_{\bar{s}}^{i})\gamma(T_{s}^{i-1}, T_{\bar{s}}^{i})}}{\alpha(T_{s}^{i-1})\beta(T_{\bar{s}}^{i})\gamma(T_{s}^{i-1}, T_{\bar{s}}^{i})},$$
  
and  
$$\Lambda_{1e}^{(n)}(i) = \Lambda_{1}^{(n)}(i) - \frac{2G_{3(i-1)+1}}{\sigma^{2}\bar{\sigma}_{3(i-1)+1}^{2}} (r_{3(i-1)+1}\bar{h}_{3(i-1)+1}^{*} + r_{3(i-1)+1}^{*}\bar{h}_{3(i-1)+1}) - \Lambda_{2e}^{(n-1)}(i).$$

**Step 3:** Calculate  $\Lambda_2^{(n)}$  and  $\Lambda_{2e}^{(n)}$ .

- 1. Initialization:
  - For i = 1, ..., K,  $\Pr\{u_i = 0\} = 1/(1 + e^{\Lambda_{1e}^{(n)}(i)})$  and  $\Pr\{u_i = 1\} = 1 \Pr\{u_i = 0\}.$

- For i = 1, ..., K, s = 0, ..., 15 and  $\bar{s} = 0, ..., 15$ , compute  $\gamma(T_s^{i-1}, T_{\bar{s}}^i)$  as  $\gamma(T_s^{i-1}, T_{\bar{s}}^i) = \begin{cases} \Pr\left\{u_{\ell(i)} = 0\right\} e^{\bar{G}_{3(\ell(i)-1)+1}|\bar{q}_{3(\ell(i)-1)+1}|^2} e^{\bar{G}_{3i}|\bar{q}_{3i}|^2}, \text{if } (T_s^{i-1}, T_{\bar{s}}^i) \in \mathcal{B}_i^{(0)}; \\ \Pr\left\{u_{\ell(i)} = 1\right\} e^{\bar{G}_{3(\ell(i)-1)+1}|\bar{q}_{3(\ell(i)-1)+1}|^2} e^{\bar{G}_{3i}|\bar{q}_{3i}|^2}, \text{if } (T_s^{i-1}, T_{\bar{s}}^i) \in \mathcal{B}_i^{(1)}; \\ 0, & \text{if } (T_s^{i-1}, T_{\bar{s}}^i) \notin \mathcal{B}_i^{(0)} \cup \mathcal{B}_i^{(1)}. \end{cases}$
- 2. Forward recursion:
  - Set  $\alpha(T_0^0) = 1$  and for  $s = 1, ..., 15, \alpha(T_s^0) = 0$ .
  - For i = 1, ..., K and s = 0, ..., 15, perform  $\alpha(T_s^i) = \sum_{\bar{s}=0}^{15} \alpha(T_{\bar{s}}^{i-1}) \gamma(T_{\bar{s}}^{i-1}, T_s^i)$ .
- 3. Backward recursion:

• Set 
$$\beta(T_s^{K+1}) = \alpha(T_s^K)$$
 for  $s = 0, \dots, 15$ .

- For  $i = K, \dots, 1$  and  $\bar{s} = 0, \dots, 15$ , perform  $\beta(T_{\bar{s}}^i) = \sum_{s=0}^{15} \beta(T_s^{i+1}) \gamma(T_{\bar{s}}^i, T_s^{i+1})$ .
- 4. Soft output:
  - For  $i = 1, \ldots, K$ , update

$$\Lambda_{2}^{(n)}(\ell(i)) = \log \frac{\sum\limits_{\substack{(T_{s}^{i-1}, T_{\bar{s}}^{i}) \in \mathcal{B}_{i}^{(1)}}} \alpha(T_{s}^{i-1})\beta(T_{\bar{s}}^{i})\gamma(T_{s}^{i-1}, T_{\bar{s}}^{i})}{\sum\limits_{(T_{s}^{i-1}, T_{\bar{s}}^{i}) \in \mathcal{B}_{i}^{(0)}} \alpha(T_{s}^{i-1})\beta(T_{\bar{s}}^{i})\gamma(T_{s}^{i-1}, T_{\bar{s}}^{i})},$$

and

$$\Lambda_{2e}^{(n)}(\ell(i)) = \Lambda_{2}^{(n)}(\ell(i)) - \Lambda_{1e}^{(n)}(\ell(i)) - \frac{2\bar{G}_{3(\ell(i)-1)+1}}{\sigma^2\bar{\sigma}_{3(\ell(i)-1)+1}^2} \left( r_{3(\ell(i)-1)+1}\bar{h}_{3(\ell(i)-1)+1}^* + r_{3(\ell(i)-1)+1}^* \bar{h}_{3(\ell(i)-1)+1} \right)$$

Step 4: Repeat Step 2 and Step 3 (by setting n = n + 1) until the number of desired iterations is reached, and make final hard-decision based on the last  $\Lambda_2$ .





Figure 3.1: Trellis diagram for a (7,5) RSC code with memory order 2. The numbers inside circles indicate the states of the nodes at the specific level. The information bit and the two code bits along with a trellis edge are marked above the edge.



Figure 3.2: Block diagram of the iterative MAP decoder. A tilde over the vector represents its interleaved version.

#### Chapter 4

#### Simulation Results for Iterative MAP Decoder

#### 4.1 System setting and channel parameters

In our simulations, the Berrou-Glavieux interleaver with size  $256 \times 256$ is employed [2, 7]. Thus, K = 65536 and  $N = 3 \times 65536$ . Similar to [3], we take  $\alpha = 0.995$ ,  $h_0 = (0.5 \text{ or } 1)$  and  $\sigma_v^2 = (0.001 \text{ or } 0.01)$ . Furthermore, the channel fading is reset every 99 symbols; as a result,  $\bar{h}_i = \alpha^{[(i-1) \mod 99]+1} h_0$ and  $\bar{\sigma}_i^2 = \sigma_v^2 \frac{(1-|\alpha|^{2([(i-1) \mod 99]+1)})}{(1-|\alpha|^2)}$ .



Figure 4.1: Performance curve of the proposed iterative MAP decoder. Parameters of Gauss-Markov channel are  $\alpha = 0.995$ ,  $\sigma_v^2 = 0.001$  and  $h_0 = 1$ .

#### 4.2 Simulation Results

Figure 4.1 shows the performance of the proposed iterative MAP decoder for channel parameters  $h_0 = 1$  and  $\sigma_v^2 = 0.001$ . It indicates that the bit-error-rate (BER) decreases as the number of iterations increases from 1 to 20. Since the BER performance for 20 iterations is very close to that for 18 iterations, it is reasonable to anticipate that no further improvement can be obtained with more iterations. Besides, error floor can be observed in this figure. The performance curve for 20 iterations has apparently lower slope when  $E_b/N_0$  is beyond 0.8 dB.

Figure 4.2 depicts the difference between the performance of the iterative MAP algorithm and a lower bound of the Shannon limit (cf. Appendix A.1). The figure shows that when  $\sigma_v^2 = 0.001$  and  $h_0 = 1$ , the resultant performance curve of the iterative MAP algorithm is only 0.9 dB

$$\begin{split} E_b/N_0 &= \frac{\overline{\mathrm{SNR}}}{R} = \frac{1}{R} \times \frac{\sum_{k=1}^N E[|h_k|^2]}{N\sigma^2} = \frac{1}{R} \times \frac{\sum_{k=1}^N |\bar{h}_k|^2 + \sum_{k=1}^N \bar{\sigma}_k^2}{N\sigma^2} \\ &= \frac{1}{R} \times \frac{|h_0|^2 \sum_{k=1}^N |\alpha|^{2[(k-1) \bmod 99+1]} + \frac{\sigma_v^2}{1-|\alpha|^2} \sum_{k=1}^N (1-|\alpha|^{2[(k-1) \bmod 99+1]})}{N\sigma^2} \\ &= \frac{1}{R} \left( \frac{|h_0|^2}{\sigma^2} \cdot \frac{|\alpha|^2 (1-|\alpha|^{198})}{99(1-|\alpha|^2)} + \frac{\sigma_v^2}{\sigma^2} \cdot \frac{99 - 100|\alpha|^2 + |\alpha|^{200}}{99(1-|\alpha|^2)^2} \right) \end{split}$$

where R is the channel code rate, and N is assumed to be a multiple of 99 for convenience.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>In our figures, the computation of  $E_b/N_0$  follows the formula below.



Figure 4.2: Performance comparison between the iterative MAP decoder with 18 iterations and a lower bound (cf. Appendix I) of the Shannon limit. Parameters of Gauss-Markov channel are  $\alpha = 0.995$ ,  $\sigma_v^2 = 0.001$  and  $h_0 = 1$ .

away from the lower bound at BER =  $2 \times 10^{-4}$ . Therefore, the iterative MAP algorithm is at most 0.9 dB away from the true Shannon limit at BER =  $2 \times 10^{-4}$ .

Figures 4.3 and 4.4 display how iterations improve the decoding performance when channel parameters are respectively  $\{h_0 = 0.5, \sigma_v^2 = 0.001\}$ and  $\{h_0 = 1, \sigma_v^2 = 0.01\}$ . Notably, a smaller  $h_0$  or a larger  $\sigma_v^2$  in concept give a *noisier* channel. Unlike the previous channel setting, the performances in the two figures saturate with much less iterations. When  $h_0 = 0.5$  and  $\sigma_v^2 = 0.001$ , the iterative MAP algorithm with 13 iterations performs close to that with 20 iterations. When  $h_0 = 1$  and  $\sigma_v^2 = 0.01$ , the sufficient number of iterations, which saturates the performance, reduces to seven.

From Figs. 4.1, 4.3 and 4.4, the performance of the iterative MAP decoder degrades as  $h_0$  decreases or  $\sigma_v^2$  increases as anticipated. For parameters  $h_0 = 0.5$  and  $\sigma_v^2 = 0.001$ , the BER reaches  $2 \times 10^{-4}$  when  $E_b/N_0 = 3.2$  dB. For Gauss-Markov channel defined by  $h_0 = 1$  and  $\sigma_v^2 = 0.01$ , the iterative MAP decoder requires  $E_b/N_0 = 8$  dB to obtain the same BER. In fact, we observe that the performance of the iterative MAP decoder is more sensitive to the variation of  $\sigma_v^2$  than that of  $h_0$ .

It is worth mentioning that the proposed iterative MAP algorithm only



Figure 4.3: Performance comparison between the iterative MAP decoding and a lower bound of the Shannon limit. Parameters of Gauss-Markov channel are  $\alpha = 0.995$ ,  $\sigma_v^2 = 0.001$  and  $h_0 = 0.5$ .



Figure 4.4: Performance comparison between the iterative MAP decoding and a lower bound of the Shannon limit. Parameters of Gauss-Markov channel are  $\alpha = 0.995$ ,  $\sigma_v^2 = 0.01$  and  $h_0 = 1$ .



Figure 4.5: Performances of punctured PCCC codes with code rates 1/2, 3/7 and 2/5. The CSIs are assumed known for the iterative MAP decoder of these punctured code. For comparison, the performance of the proposed blind-CSI iterative MAP algorithm is also depicted. All of them are decoded with 18 iterations. Parameters of Gauss-Markov channel are  $\alpha = 0.995$ ,  $\sigma_v^2 = 0.001$ and  $h_0 = 1$ .

requires the knowledge of channel statistics, and does not presume the existence of the channel estimation circuitry at the receiver. Thus, the system we considered does not need to transmit, e.g., training sequence for the estimation of channel states. In Fig. 4.5, we simulated three kinds of punctured PCCC codes with code rates 1/2, 3/7 and 2/5 under channel parameters  $h_0 = 1$  and  $\sigma_v^2 = 0.001$ . Since these code rates are all higher than 1/3, we assume that the remaining transmitted bits (i.e., N/3, 2N/9 and N/6 bits respectively for 1/2, 3/7 and 2/5 punctured codes) can be used as training bits to establish *perfect* channel estimation of  $\boldsymbol{h} = [h_1, h_2, \cdots, h_N]$ . The iterative MAP decoder, in such case, reduces to the conventional one derived for AWGN channels. The simulation results show that only rate-2/5and rate-3/7 punctured systems with perfect channel state information (CSI) perform better than the proposed blind-CSI iterative MAP algorithm, but the performance deviations are limited respectively within 0.2 and 0.1 dB at  $BER = 10^{-4}$ . Since it is in general hard to achieve accurate channel estimation for a time-varying channel even with a large number of training bits, the small performance derivation merits the usage of the proposed blind-CSI iterative MAP algorithm.

#### Chapter 5

#### **Conclusion and Future Work**

In this work, we take the PCCC code and its respective iterative MAP decoder as a test vehicle to experiment on the idea that the *temporal chan*nel memory can be weakened to nearly blockwise time-independence by the insertive transmission of informationless "random bits" of sufficient length between two consecutive blocks, for which these "random bits" are actually another parity check bits generated due to interleaved information bits. The simulation results show that the metrics derived based on blockwise independence with 2-bit blocks periodically separated by *single* parity-check bit from the second component RSC encoder perform close to the CSI-aided decoding scheme, and is at most 0.9 dB away from the Shannon limit at BER =  $2 \times 10^{-4}$  when  $h_0 = 1$  and  $\sigma_v^2 = 0.001$ . A natural future work is to extend the channel memory to higher order, and further examine whether the same idea can be applied to obtain well-acceptable system performance.

# Appendix A

## **Supplemental Derivations**

# A.1 A lower bound of the Shannon limit

The capacity of the simulated Gauss-Markov channel is given by:  $C \triangleq \frac{1}{99} \max_{x^{99}} I(x^{99}; r^{99})$ , where  $x^{99} \in \{-1, +1\}^{99}$  and  $r^{99}$  are respectively the channel input and output of the Gauss-Markov channel, and  $I(\cdot; \cdot)$  represents the mutual information function. Then,

$$C \le \frac{1}{99} \max_{x^{99}} \sum_{k=1}^{99} I(x_k; r_k) \le \frac{1}{99} \sum_{k=1}^{99} \max_{x_k} I(x_k; r_k) = \frac{1}{99} \sum_{k=1}^{99} \max_{x_k} \left[ h(r_k) - h(r_k | x_k) \right],$$

where  $h(\cdot)$  is the differential entropy function. Observe that

$$\begin{split} h(r_k|x_k) &= \sum_{x_k \in \{-1,+1\}} \Pr\{x_k\} \int_{\mathcal{C}} f\{r_k|x_k\} \log \frac{1}{f\{r_k|x_k\}} dr_k \\ &= \sum_{X_k} \Pr\{x_k\} \int_{\mathcal{C}} \frac{1}{\pi(\sigma^2 + \bar{\sigma}_k^2)} e^{-\frac{|r_k - x_k \bar{h}_k|^2}{\sigma^2 + \bar{\sigma}_k^2}} \left( \log \left[ \pi(\sigma^2 + \bar{\sigma}_k^2) \right] + \frac{|r_k - x_k \bar{h}_k|^2}{\sigma^2 + \bar{\sigma}_k^2} \right) dr_k \\ &= \sum_{X_k} \Pr\{x_k\} \cdot \log \left[ \pi e \left( \sigma^2 + \bar{\sigma}_k^2 \right) \right] = \log \left[ \pi e \left( \sigma^2 + \bar{\sigma}_k^2 \right) \right] \end{split}$$

is independent of  $x_k$ . Hence,  $\max_{x_k} I(x_k; r_k) = \max_{x_k} h(r_k) - \log \left[\pi e \left(\sigma^2 + \bar{\sigma}_k^2\right)\right]$ . Since  $h(r_k)$  is maximized by  $\Pr\{x_k = +1\} = \Pr\{x_k = -1\} = 1/2$ ,

$$\begin{aligned} \max_{x_k} h(r_k) &= \int_{\mathcal{C}} \frac{1}{2\pi (\sigma^2 + \bar{\sigma}_k^2)} \left( e^{-\frac{|r_k - \bar{h}_k|^2}{\sigma^2 + \bar{\sigma}_k^2}} + e^{-\frac{|r_k + \bar{h}_k|^2}{\sigma^2 + \bar{\sigma}_k^2}} \right) \\ & \left[ \log \left( 2\pi (\sigma^2 + \bar{\sigma}_k^2) \right) + \frac{|r_k|^2 + |\bar{h}_k|^2}{\sigma^2 + \bar{\sigma}_k^2} - \log \left( e^{\frac{r_k \bar{h}_k^* + r_k^* \bar{h}_k}{\sigma^2 + \bar{\sigma}_k^2}} + e^{-\frac{r_k \bar{h}_k^* + r_k^* \bar{h}_k}{\sigma^2 + \bar{\sigma}_k^2}} \right) \right] dr_k \\ &= \log \left( 2\pi e(\sigma^2 + \bar{\sigma}_k^2) \right) + 2\frac{|\bar{h}_k|^2}{\sigma^2 + \bar{\sigma}_k^2} - \int_{\mathcal{C}} \frac{1}{\pi (\sigma^2 + \bar{\sigma}_k^2)} e^{-\frac{|r_k - \bar{h}_k|^2}{\sigma^2 + \bar{\sigma}_k^2}} \log(2) dr_k \\ & - \int_{\mathcal{C}} \frac{1}{\pi (\sigma^2 + \bar{\sigma}_k^2)} e^{-\frac{|r_k - \bar{h}_k|^2}{\sigma^2 + \bar{\sigma}_k^2}} \log \left( \frac{e^{\frac{r_k \bar{h}_k^* + r_k^* \bar{h}_k}{\sigma^2 + \bar{\sigma}_k^2}} + e^{-\frac{r_k \bar{h}_k^* + r_k^* \bar{h}_k}{\sigma^2 + \bar{\sigma}_k^2}} \right) dr_k \\ &= \log \left( \pi e(\sigma^2 + \bar{\sigma}_k^2) \right) + \frac{2|\bar{h}_k|^2}{\sigma^2 + \bar{\sigma}_k^2} \\ & - \frac{\sqrt{\sigma^2 + \bar{\sigma}_k^2}}{|\bar{h}_k|\sqrt{\pi}} \int_{\Re} e^{-\frac{(\sigma^2 + \bar{\sigma}_k^2)}{(\bar{h}_k)^2} - t - \frac{|\bar{h}_k|^2}{\sigma^2 + \bar{\sigma}_k^2}}} \log(\cosh(2t)) dt, \end{aligned}$$

where the last step follows by letting  $t = \frac{r_k \bar{h}_k^* + r_k^* \bar{h}_k}{2(\sigma^2 + \bar{\sigma}_k^2)}$  and  $s = \frac{r_k \bar{h}_k^* - r_k^* \bar{h}_k}{2j(\sigma^2 + \bar{\sigma}_k^2)}$ , applying Jacobian transformation [8, pp. 227-229] to real-valued t and s, and taking integration with respect to s. As a result,

$$C \leq C_{\rm UP} \\ \triangleq \frac{1}{99} \sum_{k=1}^{99} \left[ |\rho_k|^2 - \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \int_{\Re} e^{-v^2/2} \log\left(\cosh\left(|\rho_k|v + |\rho_k|^2\right)\right) dv \right],$$

where  $v = \frac{2}{|\rho_k|} \left( t - \frac{|\rho_k|^2}{2} \right)$  and  $\rho_k \triangleq \sqrt{2} \cdot \bar{h}_k / \sqrt{\sigma^2 + \bar{\sigma}_k^2}$ . By joint sourcechannel coding theorem [6, pp. 215-218], the Shannon limit can be defined by the equation:

$$\log(2) - H_b(\text{BER}) = \frac{C}{R},$$

where the left-hand-side is the rate-distortion function for a binary input and Hamming additive distortion measure, and  $H_b(t) = -t \cdot \log t - (1-t) \cdot \log (1-t)$  is the binary entropy function. Combining all the above derivations, we obtain:  $H_b(\text{BER}) \ge \log(2) - C_{\text{UP}}/R$ .

# A.2 Detail derivation for Eq. (2.3)

$$f\left\{r_{i}^{j}|x_{i}^{j}\right\} = \int_{\mathcal{C}^{j-i+1}} \left(\frac{1}{(\pi\sigma^{2})^{j-i+1}}\prod_{k=i}^{j}e^{-\frac{|r_{k}-x_{k}\bar{n}_{k}|^{2}}{\sigma^{2}}}\right) \left(\frac{1}{(\pi\sigma^{2}_{v})^{j-i}(\pi\bar{\sigma}_{i}^{2})}e^{-\frac{|h_{i}-\bar{h}_{i}|^{2}}{\bar{\sigma}_{i}^{2}}}\right)$$
$$= \frac{1}{\pi^{2(j-i+1)}\sigma^{2(j-i+1)}\sigma_{v}^{2(j-i)}\bar{\sigma}_{i}^{2}} \int_{\mathcal{C}^{j-i}} \left(\prod_{k=i+1}^{j}e^{-\frac{|r_{k}-x_{k}\bar{n}_{k}|^{2}}{\sigma^{2}}}\right) \left(\prod_{k=i+2}^{j}e^{-\frac{|h_{k}-\alpha\bar{h}_{k-1}|^{2}}{\sigma^{2}_{v}}}\right)$$
$$\left(\int_{\mathcal{C}}e^{-\frac{|r_{i}-x_{i}\bar{h}_{i}|^{2}}{\sigma^{2}}-\frac{|h_{i}-\bar{h}_{i}|^{2}}{\sigma^{2}_{v}}-\frac{|h_{i+1}-\alpha\bar{h}_{i}|^{2}}{\sigma^{2}_{v}}}dh_{i}\right)dh_{i+1}^{j}.$$
(A.1)

Since  $x_i$  is either +1 or -1, the exponent in the inner integral can be rewritten as:

$$\begin{split} &\frac{|r_i - x_i h_i|^2}{\sigma^2} + \frac{|h_i - \bar{h}_i|^2}{\bar{\sigma}_i^2} + \frac{|h_{i+1} - \alpha h_i|^2}{\sigma_v^2} \\ &= \frac{1}{\sigma^2} \left( |r_i|^2 - r_i x_i h_i^* - r_i^* x_i h_i + |h_i|^2 \right) + \frac{1}{\bar{\sigma}_i^2} \left( |h_i|^2 - h_i \bar{h}_i^* - h_i^* \bar{h}_i + |\bar{h}_i|^2 \right) \\ &+ \frac{1}{\sigma_v^2} \left( |h_{i+1}|^2 - \alpha^* h_{i+1} h_i^* - \alpha h_{i+1}^* h_i + |\alpha|^2 |h_i|^2 \right) \\ &= |h_i|^2 \left( \frac{1}{\sigma^2} + \frac{1}{\bar{\sigma}_i^2} + \frac{|\alpha|^2}{\sigma_v^2} \right) - h_i \left( \frac{r_i^* x_i}{\sigma^2} + \frac{\bar{h}_i^*}{\bar{\sigma}_i^2} + \frac{\alpha h_{i+1}^*}{\sigma_v^2} \right) \\ &- h_i^* \left( \frac{r_i x_i}{\sigma^2} + \frac{\bar{h}_i}{\bar{\sigma}_i^2} + \frac{\alpha^* h_{i+1}}{\sigma_v^2} \right) + \left( \frac{|r_i|^2}{\sigma^2} + \frac{|\bar{h}_i|^2}{\bar{\sigma}_i^2} + \frac{|h_{i+1}|^2}{\sigma_v^2} \right) \\ &= |h_i|^2 G_i^{-1} - h_i g_i^* G_i^{-1} - h_i^* g_i G_i^{-1} + \left( \frac{|r_i|^2}{\sigma^2} + \frac{|\bar{h}_i|^2}{\bar{\sigma}_i^2} + \frac{|h_{i+1}|^2}{\sigma_v^2} \right) \\ &= |h_i - g_i|^2 G_i^{-1} - |g_i|^2 G_i^{-1} + \left( \frac{|r_i|^2}{\sigma^2} + \frac{|\bar{h}_i|^2}{\bar{\sigma}_i^2} + \frac{|h_{i+1}|^2}{\sigma_v^2} \right) , \end{split}$$
where
$$g_i \triangleq G_i \left( q_i + \frac{\alpha^* h_{i+1}}{\sigma_v^2} \right), \quad G_i^{-1} \triangleq \frac{1}{\sigma^2} + \frac{|\alpha|^2}{\sigma_v^2} + \frac{1}{\bar{\sigma}_i^2}, \quad \text{and} \quad q_i \triangleq \frac{r_i x_i}{\sigma^2} + \frac{\bar{h}_i}{\bar{\sigma}_i^2}. \end{split}$$

Since

$$\int_{\mathcal{C}} e^{-|h_i - g_i|^2 G_i^{-1}} dh_i = \pi G_i,$$

the exponent terms remained after the integration of the inner integral are given by:

$$\begin{split} &-|g_i|^2 G_i^{-1} + \left(\frac{|r_i|^2}{\sigma^2} + \frac{|\bar{h}_i|^2}{\bar{\sigma}_i^2} + \frac{|h_{i+1}|^2}{\sigma_v^2}\right) \\ &= -\left|G_i\left(q_i + \frac{\alpha^* h_{i+1}}{\sigma_v^2}\right)\right|^2 G_i^{-1} + \left(\frac{|r_i|^2}{\sigma^2} + \frac{|\bar{h}_i|^2}{\bar{\sigma}_i^2} + \frac{|h_{i+1}|^2}{\sigma_v^2}\right) \\ &= -G_i\left(|q_i|^2 + q_i\frac{\alpha h_{i+1}^*}{\sigma_v^2} + q_i^*\frac{\alpha^* h_{i+1}}{\sigma_v^2} + \frac{|\alpha|^2|h_{i+1}|^2}{\sigma_v^4}\right) \\ &+ \left(\frac{|r_i|^2}{\sigma^2} + \frac{|\bar{h}_i|^2}{\bar{\sigma}_i^2} + \frac{|h_{i+1}|^2}{\sigma_v^2}\right) \\ &= \frac{\sigma_v^2 - |\alpha|^2 G_i}{\sigma_v^4} |h_{i+1}|^2 - \frac{\alpha q_i G_i}{\sigma_v^2} h_{i+1}^* - \frac{\alpha^* q_i^* G_i}{\sigma_v^2} h_{i+1} - G_i |q_i|^2 + \frac{|r_i|^2}{\sigma^2^2} + \frac{|\bar{h}_i|^2}{\bar{\sigma}_i^2} \\ &= \frac{|h_{i+1} - \bar{h}_{i+1}|^2}{\bar{\sigma}_{i+1}^2} - G_i |q_i|^2 - \frac{|\bar{h}_{i+1}|^2}{\sigma_{i+1}^2} + \frac{|r_i|^2}{\sigma^2^2} + \frac{|\bar{h}_i|^2}{\bar{\sigma}_i^2}, \end{split}$$
where
$$\frac{1}{\bar{\sigma}_{i+1}^2} \triangleq \frac{\sigma_v^2 - |\alpha|^2 G_i}{\sigma_v^4} = \frac{\frac{\delta_v^2}{\sigma_v^2} + \frac{|\bar{\alpha}|^2}{\sigma_v^2} + \frac{1}{\bar{\sigma}_i^2}}{\sigma_v^4} > 0 \quad \text{and} \quad \bar{h}_{i+1} \triangleq \frac{\alpha q_i G_i \bar{\sigma}_i^2}{\sigma_v^2}. \end{split}$$

Consequently,

$$f\left\{r_{i}^{j}|x_{i}^{j}\right\} = \frac{e^{|\bar{h}_{i+1}|^{2}/\bar{\sigma}_{i+1}^{2} - |\bar{h}_{i}|^{2}/\bar{\sigma}_{i}^{2}}}{\pi^{2(j-i)+1}\sigma^{2(j-i+1)}\sigma_{v}^{2(j-i)}\bar{\sigma}_{i}^{2}}e^{-|r_{i}|^{2}/\sigma^{2}}G_{i}e^{G_{i}|q_{i}|^{2}}}$$

$$\int_{\mathcal{C}^{j-i-1}} \left(\prod_{k=i+2}^{j} e^{-\frac{|r_{k}-x_{k}h_{k}|^{2}}{\sigma^{2}}}\right) \left(\prod_{k=i+3}^{j} e^{-\frac{|h_{k}-\alpha h_{k-1}|^{2}}{\sigma_{v}^{2}}}\right)$$

$$\left(\int_{\mathcal{C}} e^{-\frac{|r_{i+1}-x_{i+1}h_{i+1}|^{2}}{\sigma^{2}} - \frac{|h_{i+1}-\bar{h}_{i+1}|^{2}}{\bar{\sigma}_{i+1}^{2}} - \frac{|h_{i+2}-\alpha h_{i+1}|^{2}}{\sigma_{v}^{2}}}dh_{i+1}\right)dh_{i+2}^{j}.$$
(A.2)

Similarly, the exponent in the inner integral in (A.2) can be re-written as:

$$\frac{|r_{i+1} - x_{i+1}h_{i+1}|^2}{\sigma^2} + \frac{|h_{i+1} - \bar{h}_{i+1}|^2}{\bar{\sigma}_{i+1}^2} + \frac{|h_{i+2} - \alpha h_{i+1}|^2}{\sigma_v^2}$$
  
=  $|h_{i+1} - g_{i+1}|^2 G_{i+1}^{-1} - |g_{i+1}|^2 G_{i+1}^{-1} + \left(\frac{|r_{i+1}|^2}{\sigma^2} + \frac{|\bar{h}_{i+1}|^2}{\bar{\sigma}_{i+1}^2} + \frac{|h_{i+2}|^2}{\sigma_v^2}\right),$ 

where

$$g_{i+1} \triangleq G_{i+1} \left( q_{i+1} + \frac{\alpha^* h_{i+2}}{\sigma_v^2} \right),$$
$$G_{i+1}^{-1} \triangleq \frac{1}{\sigma^2} + \frac{|\alpha|^2}{\sigma_v^2} + \frac{1}{\bar{\sigma}_{i+1}^2} = \frac{1}{\sigma^2} + \frac{|\alpha|^2}{\sigma_v^2} + \frac{1}{\sigma_v^2} - \frac{|\alpha|^2 G_i}{\sigma_v^4}$$

and

$$\begin{aligned} q_{i+1} &\triangleq \frac{r_{i+1}x_{i+1}}{\sigma^2} + \frac{\bar{h}_{i+1}}{\bar{\sigma}_{i+1}^2} = \frac{r_{i+1}x_{i+1}}{\sigma^2} + \frac{\alpha q_i G_i}{\sigma_v^2}. \\ \text{Hence,} \\ f\left\{r_i^j | x_i^j\right\} &= \frac{1}{\pi^{2(j-i)}\sigma^{2(j-i+1)}\sigma_v^{2(j-i)}\bar{\sigma}_i^2} \left(\prod_{k=i}^{i+1} e^{|\bar{h}_{k+1}|^2/\bar{\sigma}_{k+1}^2 - |\bar{h}_k|^2/\bar{\sigma}_k^2} \cdot e^{-|r_k|^2/\sigma^2} \cdot G_k e^{G_k |q_k|^2}\right) \\ &\int_{\mathcal{C}^{j-i-2}} \left(\prod_{k=i+3}^j e^{-\frac{|r_k - x_k h_k|^2}{\sigma^2}}\right) \left(\prod_{k=i+4}^j e^{-\frac{|h_k - \alpha h_{k-1}|^2}{\sigma_v^2}}\right) \\ &\left(\int_{\mathcal{C}} e^{-\frac{|r_{i+2} - x_{i+2} h_{i+2}|^2}{\sigma^2} - \frac{|h_{i+2} - \bar{h}_{i+2}|^2}{\sigma_{i+2}^2} - \frac{|h_{i+3} - \alpha h_{i+2}|^2}{\sigma_v^2}} dh_{i+2}\right) dh_{i+3}^j. \end{aligned}$$

Continue the above procedure until we obtain:

$$f\left\{r_{i}^{j}|x_{i}^{j}\right\} = \frac{1}{\pi^{j-i+1}\sigma^{2(j-i+1)}\sigma_{v}^{2(j-i)}\bar{\sigma}_{i}^{2}} \left(\prod_{k=i}^{j-1} e^{|\bar{h}_{k+1}|^{2}/\bar{\sigma}_{k+1}^{2} - |\bar{h}_{k}|^{2}/\bar{\sigma}_{k}^{2}} \cdot e^{-|r_{k}|^{2}/\sigma^{2}} \cdot G_{k}e^{G_{k}|q_{k}|^{2}}\right)$$
$$\int_{\mathcal{C}} e^{-\frac{|r_{j}-x_{j}h_{j}|^{2}}{\sigma^{2}} - \frac{|h_{j}-\bar{h}_{j}|^{2}}{\bar{\sigma}_{j}^{2}}} dh_{j}.$$
(A.3)

The exponent in the integral in (A.3) equals:

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{|r_j - x_j h_j|^2}{\sigma^2} &+ \frac{|h_j - \bar{h}_j|^2}{\bar{\sigma}_j^2} \\ &= \frac{1}{\sigma^2} \left( |r_j|^2 - r_j x_j h_j^* - r_j^* x_j h_j + |h_j|^2 \right) + \frac{1}{\bar{\sigma}_j^2} \left( |h_j|^2 - h_j \bar{h}_j^* - h_j^* \bar{h}_j + |\bar{h}_j|^2 \right) \\ &= |h_j|^2 \left( \frac{1}{\sigma^2} + \frac{1}{\bar{\sigma}_j^2} \right) - h_j \left( \frac{r_j^* x_j}{\sigma^2} + \frac{\bar{h}_j^*}{\bar{\sigma}_j^2} \right) - h_j^* \left( \frac{r_j x_j}{\sigma^2} + \frac{\bar{h}_j}{\bar{\sigma}_j^2} \right) + \left( \frac{|r_j|^2}{\sigma^2} + \frac{|\bar{h}_j|^2}{\bar{\sigma}_j^2} \right) \\ &= |h_j|^2 G_j^{-1} - h_j g_j^* G_j^{-1} - h_j^* g_j G_j^{-1} + \left( \frac{|r_j|^2}{\sigma^2} + \frac{|\bar{h}_j|^2}{\bar{\sigma}_j^2} \right) \\ &= |h_j - g_j|^2 G_j^{-1} - |g_j|^2 G_j^{-1} + \left( \frac{|r_j|^2}{\sigma^2} + \frac{|\bar{h}_j|^2}{\bar{\sigma}_j^2} \right), \end{aligned}$$

where

$$g_j \triangleq q_j G_j, \quad G_j^{-1} \triangleq \frac{1}{\sigma^2} + \frac{1}{\bar{\sigma}_j^2} = \frac{1}{\sigma^2} + \frac{1}{\sigma_v^2} - \frac{|\alpha|^2 G_{j-1}}{\sigma_v^4}$$
$$q_j \triangleq \frac{r_j x_j}{\sigma^2} + \frac{\bar{h}_j}{\bar{\sigma}_j^2} = \frac{r_j x_j}{\sigma^2} + \frac{\alpha q_{j-1} G_{j-1}}{\sigma_v^2}.$$

Since

and

$$\begin{aligned} -|g_j|^2 G_j^{-1} + \left(\frac{|r_j|^2}{\sigma^2} + \frac{|\bar{h}_j|^2}{\bar{\sigma}_j^2}\right) &= -|G_j q_j|^2 G_j^{-1} + \left(\frac{|r_j|^2}{\sigma^2} + \frac{|\bar{h}_j|^2}{\bar{\sigma}_j^2}\right) \\ &= -G_j |q_j|^2 + \frac{|r_j|^2}{\sigma^2} + \frac{|\bar{h}_j|^2}{\bar{\sigma}_j^2}, \end{aligned}$$

the final expression for  $f\left\{r_{i}^{j}|x_{i}^{j}\right\}$  is established as:

$$f\left\{r_{i}^{j}|x_{i}^{j}\right\} = \frac{e^{-|\bar{h}_{i}|^{2}/\bar{\sigma}_{i}^{2}}}{\pi^{j-i+1}\sigma^{2(j-i+1)}\sigma_{v}^{2(j-i)}\bar{\sigma}_{i}^{2}} \left(\prod_{k=i}^{j} e^{-|r_{k}|^{2}/\sigma^{2}}G_{k}e^{G_{k}|q_{k}|^{2}}\right).$$

# A.3 Berrou-Glavieux interleaver

The Berrou-Glavieux interleaver [2,7] fetches data into an  $M \times M$  matrix in a row-by-row manner, and then reads out according to a nonuniform rule as  $\ell(M \times i + j) = M \times \overline{i} + \overline{j}$ , where

$$\bar{i} = \left(\frac{M}{2} + 1\right)(i+j) \mod M$$
, and  $\bar{j} = ([P((i+j) \mod 8) \cdot (j+1)] - 1) \mod M$ ,

and P(0) = 17, P(1) = 37, P(2) = 19, P(3) = 29, P(4) = 41, P(5) = 23, P(6) = 13, P(7) = 7.



#### BIBLIOGRAPHY

- L. R. Bahl, J. Cocke, F. Jelinek and J. Raviv, "Optimal decoding of linear codes for minimizing symbol error rate," *IEEE Trans. Inform. The*ory, vol. 20, no. 2, pp. 284-287, March 1974.
- [2] C. Berrou and A. Glavieux, "Near optimum error correcting coding and decoding: Turbo-codes," *IEEE Trans. Commun.*, vol. 44, no. 10, pp. 1261-1271, October 1996.
- [3] H. Chen, K. Buckley and R. Perry, "Time-recursive maximum likelihood based sequence estimation for unknown ISI channels," in *Proc. 34th Asilomar Conf. Signals, Systems, Computers*, vol. 2, pp. 1005-1009, November 2000.
- [4] H. Chen, R. Perry, and K. Buckley, "On MLSE algorithms for unknown fast time-varying channels" *IEEE Trans. Commun.*, vol. 51, no. 5, pp. 730-734, May 2003.
- [5] IEEE Std 802.11a-1999, Part 11: Wireless LAN Medium Access Control (MAC) and Physical Layer (PHY) Specications: High-speed Physical Layer In The 5 GHz Band, September 1999.

- [6] T. M. Cover and Joy A. Thomas, *Elements of Information Theory* John Wiley & Sons, 1991.
- [7] C. Heegard and S. B. Wicker, *Turbo Coding*, Kluwer Academic Publishers, 1999.
- [8] A. Leon-Garcia, Probability and Random Processes for Electrical Engineering, Addison-Wesley Publishing Company, 1994.
- [9] M. Stojanovic and Z. Zvonar, "Performance of multiuser diversity reception in Rayleigh fading CDMA channels," *IEEE Trans. Commun.*, vol. 47, no. 3, pp. 356-359, March 1999.
- [10] B. Vucetic and J. Yuan, Turbo codes: Principles and Applications, Kluwer Academic Publishers, 2000.